# FIRST EXTENSION OF MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE CITY OF MELBOURNE AND THE COASTAL FLORIDA POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION

This First Extension of Memorandum of Understanding is entered into between the City of Melbourne (herein referred to as "City") and the Coastal Florida Police Benevolent Association (herein after referred to as "PBA") The purpose of this First Extension of Memorandum of Understanding is to extend the Effective Period of the Memorandum of Understanding Between the City of Melbourne and the PBA (the "MOU") entered into on March 24, 2020.

Whereas, on March 9, 2020, Governor DeSantis issued Executive Order 20-52, declaring a state of emergency for the entire State of Florida pursuant to Chapter 252, Florida Statutes based upon substantial harm related to COVID-19; and

Whereas, on March 24, 2020, the City and PBA entered into an MOU to temporarily amend section 19.2 of the current collective bargaining agreement regarding the use of accrued sick leave for calculating overtime during the declared COVID-19 emergency; and

Whereas, the MOU had an Effective Period of thirty days through April 23, 2020, and permits extensions of the Effective Period for an additional thirty (30) day period through subsequent agreement of the parties; and

Whereas, the City and PBA desire to extend the Effective Period for an additional thirty (30) day period.

Therefore, the parties hereby agree that the Effective Period of the MOU entered into between the City and PBA is extended for an additional thirty days from April 24, 2020 through May 23, 2020.

COASTAL FLORIDA PBA	4-24-20
Name of representative:Greg Forhan	
CITY OF MELBOURNE	4. 29. 2070 Date

Shannon Lewis, City Manager



# COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

# Between

# CITY OF MELBOURNE, FLORIDA

# and

COASTAL FLORIDA POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION, INC.

October 1, 2017 to September 30, 2020

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE		<u>PAGE</u>
PREAMBI	LE	1
1	RECOGNITION	1
2	NON-DISCRIMINATION	1
3	PROHIBITION OF STRIKES	1
4	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	2
5	DUES DEDUCTIONS	3
6	SPECIAL MEETINGS	3
7	INTERNAL INVESTIGATIONS, DISCHARGE AND DISCIPLIN	E 4
8	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	5
9	CONTRACT DISPUTES	7
10	EMPLOYEE SECURITY	8
11	SENIORITY	8
12	PROBATIONARY PERIOD	10
13	LAYOFF PROCEDURE	10
14	EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATION & UNION ACTIVITIES	11
15	LEGAL PROTECTION	13
16	ACTING IN GRADE	14
17	UNIFORMS AND EQUIPMENT	14
18	TRAINING COST & TUITION GRANT PROGRAM	15
19	HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	16
20	CALL BACK AND STAND-BY PROCEDURE	20
21	COURT ATTENDANCE	21
22	HOLIDAYS	21
23	SICK LEAVE	22
24	VACATION	25
25	LEAVE OF ABSENCE	26
26	INSURANCE	26
27	WAGES	2 <b>7</b>
28	PROMOTION	28

ARTICL	<u>E</u>	<u>PAGE</u>
29	POLITICAL ACTIVITY	31
30	VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT	31
31	SEVERABILITY CLAUSE	31
32	PREVAILING RIGHTS	32
33	PENSION	32
34	DRUG TESTING	33
35	HEALTH AND WELFARE	34
36	EXTRA DUTY EMPLOYMENT	34
37	DURATION OF AGREEMENT	35
APPEND A	Payroll Deduction Authorization (Article 5)	
	,	
В	Grievance Form (Article 8)	
C-1	CFPBA Time Pool Donation (Article 14)	
C-2	CFPBA Time Pool Usage (Article 14)	
D	Uniform Operations and Support Services Division Schedules (Articl	le 19)
E	K-9 Services Agreement (Article 27)	
F	Salary Schedule - Effective October 2015 (Article 27)	
G	Salary Schedule - Effective October 2018 (Article 27)	
Н	Salary Schedule – Effective October 2019 (Article 27)	

# **PREAMBLE**

This AGREEMENT is entered into by the City of Melbourne, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the City, and Coastal Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc, hereinafter referred to as the "Association" or "Union" for the purpose of promoting harmonious relations between the Employer and the Association, to establish an orderly and prompt procedure for the resolution of grievances; to insure continuation of normal activities and departmental operations; to settle differences which might arise; and to set forth the basic and full agreement between the parties concerning rates of pay, wages, hours of work, and all other conditions of employment.

# **ARTICLE 1**

# RECOGNITION

- 1.1 The Employer hereby recognizes the Coastal Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc. as the collective bargaining agent for all its sworn law enforcement officers in the ranks of Police Officer, Sergeant, and Lieutenant in accordance with certification #1642.
- 1.2 The certified bargaining agent shall represent the bargaining unit in the determination of terms and conditions of the bargaining unit's employment.

# ARTICLE 2

#### NON-DISCRIMINATION

- 2.1 The City and the Association agree not to interfere with the rights of police personnel to become members of the Association. There shall be no discrimination, interference, restraint, or coercion by the City or the Association against any employee because of Association membership or non-membership.
- 2.2 Complaints concerning discrimination based on race, creed, color, age, sex, marital status, national origin, religion, disability or any other legally protected status shall be subject to the remedies available under applicable federal and state laws and shall not be subject to the Grievance Procedure contained in this Agreement.
- 2.3 The City and the Association agree that the use of masculine gender pronouns to indicate employees of the bargaining unit shall be interpreted to mean both male and female employees, that such usage is in the interest of readability and follows the proper rules of English, and further that such usage is not intended, nor shall it be interpreted, to be sexual discrimination.

#### ARTICLE 3

#### PROHIBITION OF STRIKES

The Association agrees not to violate the Strike Provision of the Florida Constitution and Florida Statute 447. The City has the right to discharge anyone who violates the Act.

#### **MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

- 4.1 The Association recognizes the prerogative of the City to operate and manage its affairs in all respects in accordance with its responsibilities and the powers or authority which the City has not officially abridged, delegated, or modified by this Agreement; provided that actions taken by the City are not in conflict with the provisions of this Agreement.
- 4.2 Management officials of the City retain the rights, except where limited or prohibited by applicable laws, regulations, or this Agreement, which include, but are not limited to the following:
  - a. To manage and direct the employees of the City.
  - b. To hire, promote, transfer, assign, and retain employees in positions with the City.
  - c. To suspend, demote, discharge, or take other disciplinary action against employees for just cause.
  - d. To relieve employees from duties because of lack of work, or funds, or other legitimate reasons.
  - e. To maintain the efficiency of the operations of the City.
  - f. To determine the methods, means, and personnel by which such operations are to be conducted.
  - g. To determine the organization of City government.
  - h. To determine the number of employees to be employed by the City.
  - i. To determine the number, types, and grades of positions or employees assigned to an organizational unit, department, or project.
  - j. To administer internal security practices.
  - k. To determine those matters covered by the Personnel Rules and Regulations.
  - 1. To introduce new or improved methods or facilities.
  - m. To change existing methods or facilities.
  - n. To contract or subcontract for goods and services.
  - o. To maintain such other rights, normally consistent with management duties and responsibility for operating the City.
  - p. To classify and reclassify positions and employees.

4.3 The exercise of the above rights does not preclude employees or their representatives from conferring or raising grievances about the practical consequences that decisions on these matters may have on terms and conditions of employment.

# **ARTICLE 5**

# **DUES DEDUCTIONS**

5.1 Any member of the Association who has submitted a properly executed written dues authorization form (see Appendix "A") to the Payroll Division may have his membership dues in the Association deducted from his wages. Dues shall be deducted each pay period and shall, thereafter, be transmitted to the Association accompanied by a list of those employees' names whose dues are included and the payroll period for which the dues are being submitted to the Coastal Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., 1162 Pelican Bay Drive, Daytona Beach, Florida 32119.

It shall be the responsibility of the Association to notify the City Manager, or his designee, of any change in the amount of dues to be deducted at least 30 days in advance of said change. Under no circumstances shall the City be required to deduct Association fines, penalties, or special assessments from the wages of any member. An employee may, upon 30 days written notice to the City and the Association, have the City cease deducting dues from his wages.

- 5.2 The Association will indemnify, defend, and hold the City harmless against any claim made and against any suit instituted against the City on account of any deduction of Association dues.
- <u>5.3</u> The City remittance will be deemed correct if the Association does not give notice to the City within 30 days of an incorrect remittance being received. Such notice shall include the Association's reasons for deeming the remittance incorrect.
- <u>5.4</u> If there is an amount deducted in excess of what is authorized by this Agreement, the employee affected shall seek recourse through the Association and not through the City.

#### **ARTICLE 6**

#### **SPECIAL MEETINGS**

- 6.1 In the event either party desires to modify a certain Article contained in this Agreement, by mutual consent, a letter of agreement may be drafted and signed by the parties to supersede such Article or provision. Approval of the MOU for the CFPBA shall be by the CFPBA President and/or ratification of the bargaining unit members as determined by the CFPBA's General Counsel.
- 6.2 During special meetings agreed to by the City, the City agrees that the Association representative, when meeting on City time, shall not suffer loss of pay during these meetings.

# INTERNAL INVESTIGATIONS, DISCHARGE AND DISCIPLINE

- 7.1 No bargaining unit member shall be disciplined except for just cause and in no event until he shall have been furnished with a written statement of the charges.
- <u>7.2</u> Upon the conclusion of any disciplinary action against a member, final discipline shall be decided and put in writing on the disciplinary charge sheet prior to the disciplined member signing the document to either accept or grieve the discipline.

The Supervisor shall not discuss with the member any proposed disciplinary action prior to the final disciplinary action taken.

- 7.3 Any unit member has the right to request the presence of an Association representative at any investigatory interview of such unit member that the unit member reasonably believes will result in disciplinary action.
- <u>7.4</u> The "Law Enforcement Officer's Bill of Rights" as set forth in Florida Statutes §§112.532-112.534, as amended from time to time, is incorporated herein and made a part of this contract.
- 7.5 A copy of any disciplinary action will be given to the unit member being disciplined and a scanned copy will be emailed to the Association via the current staff representative. The member will sign the form to acknowledge receipt. A copy will be placed in the unit member's City Personnel file. A unit member has the right to prepare a written response pursuant to Florida Statute §112.533(3). The response will be placed in the member's City Personnel file.
- 7.6 Unit members are entitled to inspect and copy their personnel files and any internal investigation files which are not confidential by law. The City will supply these documents as soon as reasonably possible. If the member is the subject of a pending disciplinary action, upon request, the member will be provided a copy of the internal investigation file that gave rise to the disciplinary action at no cost to him. Copies of other documents will be provided at the member's expense.
- <u>7.7</u> No bargaining unit member shall be required to submit to a polygraph test or computerized voice stress analyzer as a condition of continued employment.
- 7.8 When written reprimands and suspensions are used in determining subsequent progressive disciplinary action, frequency of violation/offenses within a period of eighteen (18) months should be applied, unless aggravating or mitigating circumstances exist. This provision is limited to determining the appropriate level of disciplinary action and will not preclude either the Association or the City from introducing a member's prior disciplinary history in any grievance/arbitration proceeding.
- <u>7.9</u> Suspensions without pay shall not be imposed until the bargaining unit member has exhausted his appeal of said discipline or the time limits for said appeals have expired.

# GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

8.1 In a mutual effort to provide harmonious working relations between the parties to this Agreement, it is agreed to and understood by both parties that there shall be a procedure for the resolution of grievances between the parties arising from any alleged violation of the specific terms of the Agreement.

#### 8.2 Definitions:

- (A) A grievance within the meaning of this contract shall consist of a dispute about alleged misinterpretations or misapplications of particular clauses of this Agreement and about alleged violations of this Agreement. The Association may file a grievance on behalf of a member of the bargaining unit, a group of members of the bargaining unit, or the Association itself. Bargaining unit members may file a grievance with or without the Association representing the unit members; however, no other labor organization that is registered with the state of Florida may represent a unit member in this grievance procedure.
- (B) Days shall mean calendar days. However, if the last day of any time limit specified herein falls on a holiday or weekend, the time limit shall extend until the end of the next business day (Monday through Friday).
- (C) Management responses all responses to the grievance by management shall be in writing and transmitted to the grievant and the Association. Any denial or partial denial of a grievance by management shall contain the specific reason(s) for such denial.
- 8.3 Grievances shall be processed in accordance with the following procedures:
  - Step 1. The grievant shall present in writing the grievance to the Commander in his chain of command, or in the case where the Association files a grievance, to the Commander who has the jurisdiction to hear the grievance within 10 days of the occurrence of the action giving rise to the grievance, or when the unit member/Association knew or should have known of the event given rise to the grievance. Discussions will be informal for the purpose of settling differences in the simplest and most direct manner. Management's decision will be communicated to the grievant, as outlined in 8.2(C) within 10 days from the date the grievance was first presented to him.
  - Step 2. If the grievance is not settled at the first step, the grievant, within 10 days of the answer in the first step, shall present it to the Chief of Police. The Chief of Police shall investigate the alleged grievance and shall, within 10 days of receipt of the written grievance, conduct a meeting between himself, his representative if needed, and the grievant. The grievant may be accompanied at this meeting by an Association representative. The Chief of Police shall notify the grievant of his decision not later than 10 days following the meeting.
  - Step 3. If the grievance is not settled, the grievant, within 10 days, shall present the written grievance to the Human Resources Manager. The Human Resources Manager shall investigate the alleged grievance and shall meet with the grievant and Association representative within 10 days after receipt of the grievance. The Human Resources Manager shall obtain the facts and forward his recommendations to the City Manager within 10 days after the meeting. The City

Manager shall have 10 days to consult with any of the parties involved and render a decision in writing pursuant to this Article.

- <u>Step 4</u>. Arbitration If the grievance, as defined in this Article, has not been satisfactorily resolved within the grievance procedure, either party may request arbitration in writing no later than 16 calendar days after the response was due in Step 3 of the grievance procedure.
- (A) The parties agree to utilize an impartial neutral arbitrator from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS). The party requesting arbitration shall request a list of seven (7) arbitrators from the FMCS. Each party may request one (1) new list. The party requesting arbitration shall make the first strike. Thereafter, the parties shall alternately strike from the list until one (1) remains. The parties may waive striking if they can mutually agree to an arbitrator on the list.
- (B) The arbitration shall be conducted under the rules set forth in this Agreement. Subject to provisions contained herein, the arbitrator shall have the jurisdiction and authority to decide a grievance as defined in this Article, and to enforce compliance with the terms and conditions of the Agreement. Unit members who are not represented by the Association shall have the opportunity to process grievances to arbitration subject to the limitations set forth in this Agreement provided, however, such member proceeding without the assistance of the Association shall be required to post a bond in escrow with the City in an amount calculated to cover the cost of arbitration in the event that the unit member is assessed his portion of the cost of arbitration, and in no event less than \$2,500.
- (C) The arbitrator shall have no authority to change, amend, add to, subtract from, or otherwise alter or supplement this Agreement or any part thereof or any amendment thereto. The arbitrator shall have no authority to consider or rule upon any matter which is not a grievance as defined in this Agreement. The arbitrator may not issue declaratory or advisory opinions and shall confine himself exclusively to the question which is presented to the arbitrator, which question must be actual and existing. Copies of the award of the arbitrator, made in accordance with the jurisdictional authority under this Agreement, shall be furnished to both parties within 20 calendar days of the hearing and shall be final and binding upon both parties.
- (D) It is contemplated that the City and the employee shall mutually agree in writing as to the statement of the matter to be arbitrated prior to a hearing, and if this is done, the arbitrator shall confine his decision to the particular matter thus specified. In the event of the failure of the parties to so agree on a statement of issue to be submitted, the arbitrator shall confine his consideration to the written statement of the grievance presented in Step 1 of the grievance procedure.
- (E) Where there is an issue regarding arbitrability, it is understood that the issue will resolve separate and apart from the merits of the grievance. Issues of arbitrability shall be resolved by the arbitrator prior to the consideration of the substantive merits of the grievance. Should the matter be found to be arbitrable, either party may request selection of another arbitrator to consider the substantive merits of the grievance.
- (F) Each party shall bear the expense of its own witnesses and its own representative. The non-prevailing party, who will be determined by the arbitrator, shall bear the entire expense of

the arbitrator. If the arbitrator's decision is split, the expense of the arbitrator shall be divided equally among the parties. Any party requesting a copy of the transcript of such arbitration hearing shall bear the cost of same.

- 8.4 The times indicated on all steps may be extended by mutual written agreement.
- 8.5 When a grievance is reduced to writing there shall be set forth therein:
  - a. The grievance shall be filed on the appropriate grievance form signed by the Union (see Appendix "B");
  - b. A complete statement of the grievance and facts as known at the time of filing the grievance, upon which it is based;
  - c. The section or sections of the Agreement that are alleged to have been violated; and
  - d. The remedy of correction requested.
  - e. A grievance may be transmitted to the appropriate step for processing either via email or by hard copy.
- 8.6 A grievance not advanced to the higher step within the time limit provided shall be deemed permanently withdrawn as having been settled on the basis of the decision most recently given. Failure on the part of the City to answer within the time limit set forth will advance the grievance to the next step.
- <u>8.7</u> In settlement of any grievance resulting in retroactive adjustment, such adjustment shall not be made retroactive any further than the date of the occurrence giving rise to the grievance.
- 8.8 Upon acceptance of the punishment or the exhaustion of the grievance process, and within sixty (60) days of the last step as allowed by the disciplinary process, disciplined members shall be contacted by their immediate supervisor to schedule their suspension.
- 8.9 A written reprimand is considered a non-punitive action and may only be grieved by a unit member through Step 3 of the grievance procedure. All other forms of discipline shall be grievable in accordance with the Article.

# ARTICLE 9

# **CONTRACT DISPUTES**

The City may utilize the following procedure upon any contract dispute with the Association or with any member represented by the Association covered by this agreement.

- a. The dispute will be submitted in writing to the Association President.
- b. If no satisfactory adjustment is obtained within eight (8) calendar days, then the City shall have the right to submit the contract dispute to an impartial neutral party, agreed upon by

both the Association and the City. If, within eight (8) calendar days, the City and the Association cannot agree upon the selection of a neutral party to dissolve the dispute, then such neutral party shall be selected in accordance with the rules and provisions of the Federal Mediation & Conciliation Service.

- c. The decision of the impartial neutral party shall be binding upon both parties.
- d. The neutral party shall have no power to alter, amend, add to, or detract from the language of the Agreement.

# **ARTICLE 10**

# EMPLOYEE SECURITY

- <u>10.1</u> Unfounded complaints will be maintained within the Internal Investigations files and tracked through Internal Investigations log.
- 10.2 If a Police Officer is suspended during a criminal investigation, he may, at the sole discretion of the Chief of Police, continue to be paid at his normal rate until reinstatement, resignation, conviction, or termination. If the conviction is appealed and reversed, the Police Officer shall be reinstated to his former position with back pay, fringe benefits, seniority, and any other benefits.
- 10.3 All personnel records of employees shall be maintained in accordance with applicable laws. Information exempt from public disclosure pursuant to Chapter 119, Florida Statutes or other applicable laws shall only be released to the public in accordance with such laws.
- <u>10.4</u> Upon reasonable request, any unit member shall have the right to inspect his personnel records during the hours of operation of the Human Resources Department located at City Hall, 900 E. Strawbridge Avenue, Melbourne, Florida 32901. Hours of operation are 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.

# **ARTICLE 11**

#### **SENIORITY**

- <u>11.1</u> Seniority shall consist of continuous accumulated paid service from the date of appointment to a position covered by this Agreement. Seniority shall accumulate during absences because of illness, injury, vacation, military leave, or other authorized paid leave.
- 11.2 <u>Cumulating</u>: Seniority shall accumulate during authorized unpaid leave of absences of less than 30 calendar days. Every day off for authorized absences in excess of 30 calendar days shall be deducted from the unit member's total seniority record on a day-for-day basis.
- 11.3 Loss of Seniority: Unit members shall lose their seniority as a result of the following:
  - a. Voluntary termination.
  - b. Dismissal for cause.

- c. Layoff exceeding one (1) year.
- d. Absence without authorized leave for three (3) consecutive working days without notifying the Chief of Police or designee.
- c. Failure to return from Military Leave within the time limits prescribed by law.

Unit members injured on the job shall continue to accumulate City-wide department and classification seniority during the duration of such injury, except when a finding of maximum medical improvement has been determined to preclude return to a position within the bargaining unit.

<u>11.4</u> Eligibility for shift assignment will be based primarily on seniority, in three respective components:

- a. Date of Hire as a sworn police officer by the Melbourne Police Department.
- b. Date of promotion to a supervisory position in that classification.
- c. For the purpose of determining seniority within the following specialized units or assignments, time within the unit or assignment will determine seniority. A specialized unit or assignment for the purpose of this Article is defined as one of the following: Detectives, Special Investigations Unit, SWAT Team, Dive Recovery Team, Crisis Negotiations Team, Community Response Team, Selective Traffic Enforcement Unit, and Canine Unit.

#### d. Tie Breakers:

- 1. If two (2) or more officers were hired on the same day, preference will be given by a drawing.
- 2. If two (2) or more officers were promoted on the same day, the Chief of Police will indicate who is more senior in writing. Preference will be given by final ranking on the promotion eligibility list and then by drawing, if necessary.
- 11.5 Police Officers who voluntarily terminate and are re-hired within one-hundred eighty (180) days shall be restored to the same grade and step for wages that they had at the time of separation. Police Sergeants and Police Lieutenants who voluntarily terminate and are re-hired within one-hundred eighty (180) days shall be placed in a Police Officer position at a Police Officer grade and step closest to, but not to exceed the wages such individual had at the time of separation. Seniority for re-hired unit members shall be based on their date of re-hire. Re-hired members will be subject to the probationary requirements of Article 12 of this Agreement applicable to newly hired unit members.
- 11.6 A newly hired Police Officer with prior certified law enforcement experience may be hired into the salary schedule above the minimum rate of pay based on years of service as a certified law enforcement officer. The rate of pay for the newly hired law enforcement officer shall be at the sole discretion of the Chief of Police and will not exceed step 4 in the pay grade. The rate of pay will be determined based on years of service, size of agency, and functions performed by the new employee as

well as a comparison to the officers within the agency and their longevity in law enforcement and functions performed. The decision of the Chief of Police is final and not grievable by the Association or the employee. The City, in its discretion, may pay an additional bonus, amount and schedule to be decided by the City, as an inducement in their recruitment program.

# **ARTICLE 12**

#### PROBATIONARY PERIOD

- 12.1 All new unit members shall be considered on probation for a period of not less than twelve (12) months from date of hire. Promoted unit members shall be considered on probation for a period of not less than six (6) months.
- 12.2 The City, for good reason, may extend the probationary period of a unit member for a period not to exceed a total probationary period of 18 months for newly hired unit members and twelve (12) months for newly promoted unit members. Notice of such extension shall be furnished in writing to the unit member prior to the completion of the probationary period.
- Any approved leave of absence in excess of 10 days shall cause the unit members' probationary period to be extended by the amount equal to the leave taken. In the event a unit member returns to light duty, the probationary period will be extended until the unit member returns to full duty. Upon the unit member's return, the probation will resume and continue until fully completed.
- 12.4 Newly hired unit members on probationary status shall not have recourse with a grievance procedure for termination for cause or layoff due to reduction in force.

#### **ARTICLE 13**

#### **LAYOFF PROCEDURE**

- <u>13.1</u> <u>Layoff</u>: When the City finds that it is in the public interest, it may lay off such unit members in the bargaining unit as it finds necessary as limited below.
- 13.2 <u>Temporary and Probationary Employees</u>: No unit member shall be laid off while there are temporary and probationary unit members serving in the same classification within the same department.
- 13.3 Procedure: Reduction in force by layoff shall be in order of seniority with the unit member with the least seniority being laid off first. Layoff shall include the right of senior members of the bargaining unit in higher ranked positions to "bump" or roll back members of the bargaining unit in lower classifications who possess less seniority. Recall shall be in reverse order of layoff. Members will be offered the opportunity to return to a higher rank after a roll back and will not be subject to additional testing. This return to a previous rank shall be in the order in which the members vacate the rank (first out is first to return). There is no option to "pass" on a return to rank until a later period. If a member rejects a return to rank, the member will have to compete for a future promotional vacancy. Notice of recall shall be sent by hand delivery, certified mail, or other appropriate manner to the laid off unit member at his last known address. If the unit member fails to respond within five (5) calendar days from the date of receiving the

notice of recall confirming his intent to return within another five (5) calendar days, he shall not be entitled to recall or further recall rights. A unit member will be kept on the callback list for one (1) year. After this period, the unit member shall have no right to recall. No new bargaining unit members shall be hired until all members of the bargaining unit on layoff have been returned or given the opportunity to return to work.

# **ARTICLE 14**

# EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATION AND UNION ACTIVITIES

14.1 Representation: From employees in the bargaining unit, the Association shall select Union Unit Representative(s), as many as deemed necessary by the Executive Board of the Association, but a sufficient number to assure availability for investigation, discipline and grievance meetings where representation may be requested by a unit member with a reasonable amount of notice. A list of Union Representatives authorized to represent the Association and its members shall be furnished to the City and the Association shall notify the City of any change to the list. The City will not recognize any Union Representative whose name does not appear on the appropriate list. Where Association representation is requested by a unit member, the representative shall be a person so selected and designated by the Association and have the authority to resolve the grievance. By mutual agreement on a case-by-case basis, representatives may be permitted to adjust their work day hours when the representatives have conducted Association business with the City during their off duty hours.

# 14.2 Labor/Management Meetings

- (A) There shall be a Labor Management Committee established to consist of the Chief of Police or designee, two (2) members appointed by the Chief of Police, and any three (3) Union representatives from the Melbourne Police Department and the Association staff representative. The Union representatives shall be selected by the Association President and the Chief shall be notified of said Union representatives who will be attending the meeting at least five (5) days in advance of said meeting. The purpose of this committee shall be to meet and confer concerning problems of a general nature which may from time to time arise in the Police Department, to promote the harmonious operation of the department and make recommendations to the Chief of Police concerning resolution of any such problems. The committee will meet at a mutually acceptable time, place, and date set by the Chief. Recommendations of the committee will be advisory in nature only.
- (B) The City agrees that if the Union representative, while on duty, desires to appear before a scheduled City Council meeting, at which discussions concerning contract agreements which affect bargaining unit members are to be held, then he may be allowed to attend without loss of pay, after first receiving permission from the Chief or designated representative. In no case will premium pay be granted for attendance as described above.
- (C) It is agreed that the members of this committee will be compensated should the agreed upon meeting time fall on a member's off duty time.

#### 14.3 Bulletin Boards

(A) The City agrees to furnish wall space not to exceed 24 x 36 inches for Association bulletin boards of an equal size at each job site (currently the Apollo Boulevard and Babcock Street Sites) where

bargaining unit members report to work. Where the Union currently maintains bulletin boards that practice shall continue.

- (B) The use of Union bulletin board space is limited to the following notices:
  - (1) Recreation and social affairs of the Association,
  - (2) Association meetings,
  - (3) Association elections,
  - (4) Reports of Association committees,
  - (5) Association benefit programs,
  - (6) Current Association contract,
  - (7) Training and educational opportunities, and
  - (8) Other materials pertaining to the welfare of Association members.
- (C) Notices posted on these bulletin boards shall not contain anything reflecting adversely on the City, or any of its officers or employees; nor shall any posted material violate or have the effect of violating any law, rule, or regulation.
- (D) Notices posted must be dated and bear the signature of the Association's authorized representative.
- 14.4 The City will furnish the Union copies of all Police Department rules and regulations and all memoranda pertaining thereto. The City will allow Association mail to be distributed at roll call and/or electronic mail systems with prior authorization from the Police Chief.
- <u>14.5</u> Employee Lists. Upon request of the President of the Association or designee, the City, no more than on a quarterly basis, will provide the Association with a list giving the name, job title, and base hourly rate of pay for each employee in the bargaining unit.
- 14.6 Negotiations. The Association agrees that all collective bargaining is to be conducted with the City's representatives designated for that purpose. While negotiating meetings shall normally be held at the Human Resource office, the City and the Association may mutually agree to meet elsewhere at a City facility or other location that involves no rental cost.

#### 14.7 Union Time Bank.

A. Each bargaining unit member may voluntarily contribute up to two (2) hours of annual leave to the Union Time Bank on an annual basis. Donations to the Time Bank shall be documented by the use of a Union Time Bank Authorization Form to be completed for each donation, attached to this Agreement as Appendix "C" and incorporated herein.

- B. Any contributed hour(s) will be deducted from each bargaining unit member's accrual balance in the second pay period in March. Union Time Bank authorization forms must be submitted to the Police Chief's office upon ratification of this Agreement and on or before March 1 in successive years.
- C. Up to a maximum of three (3) Union Representatives in any one instance shall be granted time off paid from the Union Time Bank for the purpose of conducting Union business; however, this does not preclude management from granting leave to more than three (3) unit members, if doing so does not unduly disrupt the operation of the Department.
- D. The Chairperson of the Association or his designee shall submit all requests for the use of the Union Time Bank to the Police Chief or his designee at least fourteen calendar days in advance of the requested time off. However, this shall not preclude management from granting leave with less than fourteen calendar days' notice.
- E. The Police Chief shall have the discretion of approving or denying Union Time Bank usage, depending upon the manpower requirements to maintain efficient operations within the Police Department, approval of which shall not be unreasonably denied. Denial of Union Time Bank usage shall be grievable, but shall not be subject to the arbitration provisions of this Agreement.
- F. Union Time Bank charges will be drawn in increments of one (1) hour and will be charged for all hours during which an elected or appointed Association representative is in an onduty release while conducting Association business as described in (G).
- G. A Union representative may request time off from the Union Time Bank for the purpose of attending Union training sessions, conferences and meetings, including informational meetings and Association elections, but not including grievance hearings, investigations, contract negotiations, and legislative body meetings regarding the resolution of collective bargaining impasse procedures and arbitrations.
- H. The Police Chief or his designee and President of the Association or his designee shall keep a record of all time donated and drawn against the Union Time Bank. Unused time will be rolled over from year to year and may be drawn against in future years.

#### LEGAL PROTECTION

- 15.1 A unit member who is named as a co-defendant with the City in a lawsuit arising out of the performance of duty as a Police Officer and within the scope of employment with the City, for which there is no coverage for such unit member under any policy of insurance for which the City is paying a premium, shall be provided with a free defense by an attorney of the City's choice to defend such a lawsuit, provided any such unit member shall agree to the following conditions in writing:
  - a. That the unit member understands that he will pay any judgment whatsoever rendered against him individually, for either compensatory or punitive damages, in any final judgment in which he was found to have caused the harm intentionally.
  - b. That the City will pay any court costs attributable solely to such unit member's interest in such lawsuit.

Nothing herein shall serve to prevent the unit member's rights to recovery as provided for in Florida Statute 111.071.

15.2 Each designated Union representative will usually be expected to perform his/her duties as a representative of the Association on his/her own time. However, it is recognized that from time to time it will be necessary for Association activities to be carried out during working hours of the representative for the processing of written grievances and the representation of Association members relative to grievances.

The Chief of Police may authorize representatives to conduct Association business in other matters of importance on a case-by-case basis so long as the matter involves matters of mutual benefit.

# **ARTICLE 16**

# **ACTING IN GRADE**

- 16.1 Any bargaining unit member who is appointed in writing by the Chief of Police to act in a higher grade for a period in excess of three (3) work weeks in a calendar year, excluding authorized leave, shall receive pay for all time worked while acting in that grade, at the minimum of the range or 5% of his base pay, whichever is higher.
- 16.2 When a vacancy in a supervisory position is available, the first right of refusal shall be given to employees on the current promotional lists for the affected supervisory position. If there is not a current list, then the most recent list shall be used for determining who shall fill the vacancy. If at this point there are no employees able or willing to take the position, then the Chief of Police may select any eligible employee for the position.
- 16.3 Any squad vacancy lasting longer than six (6) calendar weeks shall require the Department to implement the terms in this article.

#### **ARTICLE 17**

# **UNIFORMS AND EQUIPMENT**

- 17.1 All uniforms, protective clothing, or protective devices required of members in the performance of their duties shall be furnished without cost to the unit members by the City with the exception of underwear, socks, and shoes. Newly employed officers will be supplied a departmental handgun and appropriate support equipment. All unit members hired prior to October 1, 2006 shall be permitted to retain and carry their personally owned departmentally authorized firearms and the City shall provide the proper caliber ammunition for the weapons.
- <u>17.2</u> Any uniform or related equipment damaged or destroyed while an officer is acting in the performance of his official duties shall be repaired or replaced by the City at no cost to the officer. However, the damage or destruction must not be the result of the officer's own negligence or loss.
- 17.3 Detectives or other permanently assigned sworn personnel engaged in investigation or undercover work, and required to wear civilian clothes, shall receive a clothing allowance of \$900, one-half to be paid upon appointment, with the balance and future payments to be paid quarterly beginning with the third quarter following appointment. The purpose of this payment is for purchase of

street-type clothing. Upon termination or transfer, unit members will pay back the appropriate pro-rata balance of the most recent quarterly payment based on the timing of the transfer or termination.

- 17.4 An officer, while engaged in the performance of his assigned duty, who shall have damaged or broken his prescription eyeglasses, dentures, or partial dental plates, required sidearm, or wrist watch shall have same repaired or replaced, whichever is the lesser cost of the two, by the City. Maximum cost of repair or replacement of a wristwatch shall not exceed \$100.00. However, such damage shall not be the result of normal wear and tear, negligence, loss or misuse on the part of the unit member, or the failure of the officer to utilize the proper protective equipment or procedures, where provided by the City.
- 17.5 Claims for damages mentioned in this Article must be reported in writing or e-mail to the City within eight (8) calendar days and be supported with reasonable documentation within 15 calendar days.
- 17.6 All uniformed personnel shall be paid an annual uniform cleaning allowance and an incidental equipment purchase allowance in the amount of \$200 to be paid during the first pay period in December of each fiscal year. The Department will make a good faith effort to provide a facility, business or cleaning service where uniforms may be cleaned and where members who are required to wear plain clothes in the performance of their duty may have their clothes used for work cleaned at a reduced cost to the employee.
- 17.7 All unit members who utilize their personal mobile telephones for Police business shall be paid an annual mobile phone allowance in the amount of \$100 to be paid during the first pay period in December of each fiscal year. This allowance will not be paid to any unit member who is issued a mobile telephone by the City. Employees receiving this allowance may be required to provide records of usage in accordance with Florida Statutes §119 Public Records as amended from time to time.
- 17.8 All unit members required to carry a mobile telephone for Police business, and who are provided a mobile telephone by the City, shall have the option to return the mobile telephone to the City and utilize their personal mobile phone for City business. Employees electing this option shall receive a monthly allowance of \$52 which will be paid as a pay supplement of \$26 on the first two pay checks each month. Employees receiving this allowance may be required to provide records of usage in accordance with Florida Statutes §119 Public Records as amended from time to time.

#### **ARTICLE 18**

# TRAINING COST & TUITION GRANT PROGRAM

#### 18. 1 TUITION GRANT PROGRAM

The Association and the City agree to encourage Police Officers to further their education. The City shall, subject to availability of budgeted funds, provide a grant to bargaining unit members for tuition and class required books in an amount not to exceed the prevailing credit hour rate for either undergraduate or graduate courses, as appropriate, at the University of Central Florida, for accredited courses not funded by other sources, which have been completed by a unit member if the following requirements are met:

a. The course is a required part of a degree program that is job related.

- b. Approval to attend is obtained by the employee prior to attendance.
- c. A final grade of "C" or better is earned for undergraduate courses.
- d. A final grade of "B" or better is earned for graduate courses.
- e. A final grade of pass if the available grades are pass/fail only.

Maximum book/lab fee allowance shall be \$150 per course.

In the event a unit member covered by this Agreement leaves the City's employment after receiving a tuition grant for any approved course and required book/lab fee, the unit member will be required to refund to the City a pro-rated amount of the grant. Any unit member who retires from the City with at least 20 years of service shall be exempt from this requirement. Such refund shall be computed based on the following sliding scale:

Within one year: 100% of grant Within two years: 75% of grant 50% of grant Within four years: 25% of grant After four years: 0% of grant 0% of grant

Approval or disapproval of eligibility for grant shall be the decision of the Chief of Police. His decision concerning sub-paragraphs a. and b. shall be final. DROP participants are not eligible to participate in the Tuition Grant Program.

18.2 Where the best interests of the City are served by schooling, seminars, or classes for the employees covered by this Agreement, actual costs incurred shall be borne by the City, providing previous City approval has been obtained.

# ARTICLE 19

# HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

- 19.1 For the purpose of applying the provisions of this section, continuous operation shall be defined as operations for which there is regularly scheduled employment for 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.
  - A. Work schedules/shifts: All employees will have a designated work schedule/shift with an established starting time and quitting time. The schedule will be non-rotating and will be bid upon ratification and Council approval of this Agreement and each December and June thereafter. Bidding will be based upon seniority. However, specialty unit members may be reassigned to ensure proper shift coverage and staffing levels of squads and other units may be adjusted from time to time based on operational needs. Work schedules/shifts shall be posted on the bulletin board. Work schedules/shifts may be changed without advance notice in the case of an emergency, subject to overtime provisions and any other applicable provision herein.

- B. <u>Hours</u>: The hours of work each day shall be consecutive except for interruption for meal periods. Splitting of shifts shall not be permitted under this section.
- C. As per the attached scheduled referred to in this agreement as Appendix "D", uniformed officers assigned to patrol will work six 12-hour workdays and one 8-hour work day in a 14-day period. Uniformed officers assigned to patrol will have Friday, Saturday and Sunday scheduled off every other week. The Selective Traffic Enforcement Unit (except Traffic Sergeant) will work the 10-hour schedule attached as Appendix "D". The Selective Traffic Enforcement Unit shall have two 10-hour daily work schedules, the first group will begin at 0630 hours, and the second group will begin at 1000 hours, with assigned days off.
- D. As per the attached schedule, officers assigned as Criminal Investigations Division Detectives, Special Investigations Unit Detectives, and the Community Response Team will work a 10-hour day with assigned days off. In addition to the established day shift beginning at 0700 hours, there shall no less than 2 CID Detectives assigned to a 10-hour evening shift beginning at 1400 hours and subject to a 4% shift differential. This shift differential is separate from any other shift differential provisions outlined in this agreement, and the evening shift CID Detectives will not be eligible for any other shift differential listed in this Agreement. Only CID Detectives who have completed the onboarding process within the Division shall be allowed to bid on these positions. Initial assignments will first be offered to volunteers, then filled using the normal shift bidding process outlined in this agreement.
- E. As per the attached schedule, Detective Lieutenant, Traffic Sergeant and administratively assigned officers, e.g., Community Resource Officers, School Resource Officers, Community Relations Sergeant, Internal Affairs Sergeant, and Recruiting Officer will work an 8-hour work day, with assigned days off.
- F. When the public schools are not in session during the summer, School Resource Officers (SRO) may be temporarily assigned by seniority to a 12-hour day schedule (6 a.m. to 6 p.m. or 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. or 6 p.m. to 6 a.m. or 7 p.m. to 7 a.m.). The SRO summer assignments shall be made on or before April 1. Prior approved leave will be honored by the SRO's new shift Sergeant. The Police Chief will make a good faith effort to accommodate any SRO who is unable to work a 12-hour shift due to a hardship. If staffing allows, the SRO's may request a "shadow" assignment during the summer to further expand their career goals and assist the department with other needs such as Traffic, Investigations and Community Outreach. "Shadow" assignments will be made by seniority and based on operational needs and patrol staffing.
- G. Any new bargaining unit position or position not listed above shall be assigned to a shift described herein based upon the needs of the Department upon written agreement with the Association.
- H. Officers may work a flexible schedule on a case-by-case basis with supervisory approval. A flexible schedule may only be worked upon mutual consent of both parties. The flexible schedule may include varied hours of the day and days of the week for a defined and limited period of time.

- I. <u>Emergency Operations Policy:</u> When a state of local emergency is declared, such as a weather related event, a natural disaster, a civil crisis, or any other matter designated as an emergency, bargaining unit personnel shall be required to work as deemed necessary. Based on the significance of the emergency, expectations for duty including reporting requirements before, during, and after the emergency will be determined and communicated by the Chief of Police or his designee. All bargaining unit members will be paid per the following pay and reporting policy:
  - 1. Certain bargaining unit personnel may be required to work before, during, and after the emergency.
  - 2. Bargaining unit personnel shall be advised of their reporting requirements 24 hours in advance when practical to prepare for duty.
  - 3. All bargaining unit personnel are responsible to remain in contact with their supervisor to assess their responsibilities once an emergency is declared. Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action.
  - 4. Bargaining unit personnel who are required to work shall report for duty as advised by the Chief of Police or his designee.
  - 5. Except as provided in paragraph 10 below, bargaining unit personnel shall be paid straight time for their designated work schedule/shift if they are not required to work.
  - 6. Bargaining unit personnel who work during the declared emergency shall be paid at 2 ½ times their regular hourly rate for work performed during their designated work schedule/shift and shall be paid at 1 ½ times their regular hourly rate for work performed outside their designated work schedule/shift.
  - 7. Bargaining unit personnel who have pre-scheduled leave prior to the declaration of an emergency shall contact their supervisor to determine the status of such leave. Bargaining unit personnel on pre-approved leave who are not out of the area and are available to work may be required to report to work. Each situation of pre-approved leave shall be considered based on the reasons prior to the personnel being asked to report back to work. Bargaining unit members on pre-approved leave who are not required to report to work will record their time off as leave time.
  - 8. Bargaining unit personnel who call in sick during a declared emergency and sick leave is approved shall have their sick leave balance reduced in accordance with their regularly scheduled hours.
  - 9. The Chief of Police or his designee has the sole discretion to excuse a bargaining unit member from work during an emergency for a pre-determined time frame based on family situation or personal hardship. The affected employee shall submit a memorandum outlining the hardship or family situation and requesting the use of leave during the declared state of emergency. As having adequate staff is essential, such leave must be approved in advance. A decision by the Chief or his designee in such matters shall not

be subject to the grievance/arbitration procedures of the collective bargaining agreement. Some special situations that may be considered are:

- a. Both parents are bargaining unit members and they have young children at home.
- b. The employee is caring for an elderly or special needs person and no other person is available to take over the care giver responsibilities.
- c. Single parent families where there is no other person available to take care of the employee's children. This includes families where one parent is in active military status stationed outside Brevard County.
- 10. After the state of local emergency has been lifted, bargaining unit personnel shall return to their regularly scheduled hours as soon as practical as determined by the Police Chief or designee.
- 11. If an employee is unable to return to work following a disaster, the Chief of Police shall assess the reason for absence, determine if leave will be granted, then determine if the absence will result in disciplinary action.
- 12. Bargaining unit personnel understand that violations of this policy may result in disciplinary action.
- 19.2 All authorized and approved time for work performed in excess of an employee's scheduled work day shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half  $(1\frac{1}{2})$  of the employee's regular rate of pay. Employees will also be eligible for statutory overtime as required by the Fair Labor Standards Act. The use of accrued sick leave shall not be counted as time worked for the purpose of payment for overtime, except when overtime is mandated by the Department. For the purposes of this provision, mandatory overtime is defined as overtime that is mandated by a supervisor or a call out provision for a specific reason (SWAT, DRT, CID, CNU etc.). Section 7(k) of the Fair Labor Standards Act shall apply to employees working a 14-day work period as described in 19.1(C) above and the corresponding Schedule.
- 19.3 In lieu of monetary remuneration for overtime worked, the employee may elect to accrue compensatory time at the rate of 1-1/2 hours for each hour worked, except for assignments where the City invoices third parties for the overtime. Compensatory time shall accrue as follows:
  - ALL BARGAINING UNIT MEMBERS 120 hours maximum accrual. Use of compensatory time shall be at the request of the member and shall require the approval of the Chief of Police. Denial shall be based on staffing requirements determined by the Chief of Police. Employees terminating employment shall be paid for accrued compensatory time.
- 19.4 Employees shall be required to work overtime when requested unless excused by Supervisor.
- 19.5 No employee may approve the payment of overtime for himself. All overtime will be approved by procedures established by the Chief of Police.
- 19.6 Premium payment shall not be duplicated for the same hours worked under any of the terms of this Agreement.

- 19.7 The City will not alter the schedule of an individual for the purpose of circumventing the payment of overtime, with the understanding that nothing herein shall preclude the City from adjusting staff as required for holidays or adjusting schedules to accommodate in-service training or documented deficiency. When education or training is ordered by the Chief of Police to correct a documented deficiency (e.g. documented in an evaluation or discipline procedure) or for in-service training, a unit member's schedule may be adjusted. The adjusted schedule will be presented to the unit member at least seven (7) days in advance and will include travel time and any anticipated or related work hours to accommodate the ordered training. This schedule will accompany the training request form and will cover each 80 hour work period affected by the education or training. Any time worked outside of the adjusted schedule will be considered as time worked and will be compensated (e.g. overtime) in accordance with this agreement. For all other training schedule matters, refer to article 19.1(H).
- <u>19.8</u> An employee may exchange shifts with employees of equal rank and job description upon getting the necessary approval of the Chief or his designee insofar as the exchange of shifts occurs in the same 30-day period.
- 19.9 Any necessary travel time in the course of a member's employment outside of the member's regularly scheduled hours shall be considered as time worked, provided such travel is approved in advance by the Chief of Police or his designee.

#### CALL BACK AND STAND-BY PROCEDURE

- 20.1 In the event that a unit member is called back to duty before or after his regular shift, for any reason whatsoever, he shall receive a minimum pay of at least two (2) hours at a rate of time and one half (1-1/2), except this provision shall not apply when an early call-in period extends into the start of the unit member's regular work period. A minimum of one (1) hour of pay at the rate of time and one half shall be paid for any call-in occurring within one (1) hour of the start of the unit member's regular work period.
- 20.2 In the event that a unit member is requested to stand-by during his off-duty hours, he shall receive pay at the rate of time and one half (1-1/2), and shall remain on stand-by until notified by the Police Department that he is no longer on stand-by.
- <u>20.3</u> In the event a unit member is contacted after his normal hours of employment which places him in an on duty status, he shall be compensated at 2 hours at the applicable overtime rate or for actual time worked, whichever is greater. A telephone call lasting no longer than fifteen (15) minutes in duration shall not constitute time worked and will not be compensated. Multiple phone calls totaling more than fifteen (15) minutes or greater shall be compensated in accordance with this provision.
- 20.4 The Chief of Police will identify the specialty teams and/or special functions that will be subject to the on-call provisions contract. These specialty teams and functions will be identified via a memorandum issued by the Chief of Police each January. The on-call schedule selection will be determined by seniority within each on-call unit or specialty team. The supervisor shall determine the days for on-call and the shifts to be covered. The on-call unit member will utilize a City vehicle for personal use while on "on-call" status and must be available to report for duty at the scene within 30 minutes of being notified. If the unit member is unable to respond within 30 minutes, he will notify the on-duty Watch Commander of the delay and the new time of arrival. The reasonableness of a delayed

response will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis. Unit members will carry a mobile phone or other communication device provided by the City. While in an "on-call" status, unit members are free to engage in personal activities but may not consume or be under the influence of alcoholic beverages or substances that could impair the unit member's fitness for duty. A unit member will be paid two (2) straight hours of pay for each week day that he is on "on-call" status and four (4) straight hours of pay for each weekend day or holiday that the unit member is on "on-call" status. When called out, unit members will receive call-back pay in accordance with Article 20.1. No unit member shall be called out more than twice in a twenty-four (24) hour period except in an emergency as declared by the Chief of Police.

Hours accrued while in an "on-call" status are done so at 1 hour earned for each hour worked. All other contractual references to compensatory time being carned at the rate of 1.5 hours for each hour of work performed do not apply to the "on-call" provision.

Bargaining unit members who are in an "on-call" status have the option to take two hours of compensatory time and have it added to their compensatory time bank at two hours in lieu of being paid for those two hours. To that end, when members are in an "on-call" status on a weekend or holiday, members have the option of taking four hours of compensatory time and have it added to their compensatory time bank at four hours in lieu of being paid for those four hours.

# **ARTICLE 21**

# **COURT ATTENDANCE**

Off duty court time shall be computed in the following manner: the normal witness fee and expenses shall be retained by the employees and an additional three hours of credit shall be given for the first court appearance in any given calendar day, subject to the provisions set forth herein. If an officer is enroute to court and court is cancelled, the officer shall receive three (3) hours pay. When calculating off duty court time, the start and end time can be adjusted accordingly by the supervisor when an officer needs to retrieve evidence or return evidence to the department. Case preparation time will be furnished while on duty.

- 21.1 In the event that the court appearance begins less than three (3) hours prior to the assigned shift of the employee, time actually worked to the beginning of the shift shall be credited.
- 21.2 For multiple court appearances in the same calendar day, the three (3) hour threshold shall only apply once. For all subsequent court appearances following the first three (3) hour mandate, these court appearances shall be credited hour for hour at the employee's applicable overtime rate.
- <u>21.3</u> If treated as one continuous appearance, time spent from the beginning of the first appearance to the conclusion of the last appearance will be credited.

#### **ARTICLE 22**

#### HOLIDAYS

22.1 Police Officers in the Bargaining Unit shall receive the following paid holidays:

- New Year's Day Thanksgiving Day 1. 6. Day after Thanksgiving 2. Martin Luther King Jr. 7. Day before Christmas (Dec. 24<sup>th</sup>) Birthday Observance 8. 3. Memorial Day 9. Christmas Day Independence Day Any other day declared as a paid holiday 4. 10. 5. Labor Day by the City Council for all other City employees
- <u>22.2</u> Whenever an observed holiday shall occur on unit member's scheduled day off, the City may allow the unit member to take a day off at another time, or compensate him at the straight time rate in order to equalize the observed legal holidays.
- <u>22.3</u> If the unit member elects and is authorized to be compensated by a day off for the holiday worked, that time will be taken during the calendar year in which the said holiday occurs.
- 22.4 All unit members in the Bargaining Unit shall receive credit for any holiday unless:
  - a. He has an unexcused or unpaid absence on the last regular work day preceding such holiday, or on the next regular work day following such holiday.
  - b. He is on a leave of absence without pay or layoff on the day on which such holiday occurs.
  - e. He fails to report for work, without justifiable reason for such absence, after having been scheduled to work on such holiday.
- <u>22.5</u> When any unit member is required to work on a day observed as a holiday and these hours fall within his regular rotating work schedule, he shall be paid at his regular rate of pay plus 1-1/2 times his regular rate of pay or the unit member may choose compensatory time under existing City rules.
- <u>22.6</u> Whenever an observed holiday shall occur on a unit member's scheduled day off and that unit member is called to duty, he shall be compensated at his regular rate of pay plus 1-1/2 times his regular rate of pay. If the unit member works on the observed holiday and the hours of work exceeds the normal scheduled hours, then the unit member shall be eligible for a rate of pay of 2-1/2 times his regular rate of pay. If the unit member is scheduled off for the observed holiday and is called back to work then their rate of pay is 1-1/2 times their regular rate of pay.

# SICK LEAVE

- 23.1 Sick leave with pay shall be credited at the rate of 8 hours for each calendar month of employment, or a total of 96 hours per year, up to a maximum 720 hours. For unit members hired on or after May 1, 2012, sick leave shall be credited at the rate of 8 hours for each calendar month of employment, or a total of 96 hours per year, up to a maximum 420 hours.
- 23.2 Sick leave is the number of days which may be used by a unit member without deduction from his regular compensation:

- a. When incapacitated for the performance of his duties by sickness or injury.
- b. For medical, dental, optical treatment, or examination.
- c. When, through exposure to contagious disease, the presence of the person at his post of duty would jeopardize the health of others.
- d. Treatment or consultation for mental illness.
- e. Rehabilitation or therapy for alcoholism, drug addiction, or any other addictive condition which is dangerous to the unit member's health.
- f. Immediate family member illness. Immediate family is defined for purposes of this policy as a unit member's father, mother, spouse, children, and step children or adopted children.

The Chief of Police may require evidence of incapacity for any period of sick leave.

- 23.3 Members who accumulate in excess of the 720 hours shall have the excess sick leave converted to vacation leave hours at the rate of 2 sick leave hours for 1 vacation leave hour. This conversion will take place no later than the 15<sup>th</sup> of December of each year. Due to this conversion, unit members will be afforded the ability to carry the excess converted vacation leave over the maximum accrual at the end of the year if the unit member is prevented from using such excess converted vacation leave due to staffing requirements. Unit members hired on or after May 1, 2012 shall participate in the annual sick leave to vacation leave conversion at the rate of 4 sick leave hours to 1 vacation leave hour when they exceed their maximum sick leave balance of 420 hours.
- 23.4 In addition to the sick leave benefits herein provided, each unit member shall be entitled to and receive a terminal leave payment when retiring under the provisions of the Melbourne Police Officer's Retirement Fund equal to 1/2 of such unit member's unused, accumulated sick leave balance. Unit members hired on or after May 1, 2012 shall be eligible for this benefit at a 25% payout of their sick leave balance upon retirement. Those who exercise a payout upon entering DROP will begin accruing sick leave after this distribution and thereafter will receive a 25% payout at final employment termination for any remaining sick leave.
- 23.5 The unit member must notify the Office of the Chief of Police, or designee, as early as possible, and at least 60 minutes before starting time each day he is unable to report for work because of illness, unless the requirement is waived by the City. Upon request, the unit member will furnish adequate explanation of his illness to his supervisor through the City Nurse to determine that such sick leave should be allowed. Absences under the sick leave conditions will be subject to investigation by the appropriate supervisor. A unit member will be counseled if it appears that, he is using an excessive amount of sick leave, as determined by the City. The City has the right to require any unit member to undergo a medical examination by an assigned medical doctor, at any time, to ascertain whether or not a unit member is physically and mentally capable of performing the essential functions required for his classification; provided the City has competent and documented reason(s) to require a Fitness for Duty examination. This examination will be conducted on City time and at City expense. The medical doctor performing the examination will reduce his findings to laymen's terms as to what physical and mental limitations the unit member has, whether the limitations are temporary or permanent, and whether the

unit member has reached maximum medical improvement. It is the City's responsibility to interpret the medical findings to determine "fitness for duty".

- 23.6 Sick leave shall be charged in increments of not less than 1/2 hour.
- 23.7 Should a unit member be absent due to illness, and willfully fail to comply with the rules and regulations covering sick leave, such unit member shall be charged with unauthorized absence.
- 23.8 Sick leave will be charged only against a unit member's regular work day and shall not be charged for absences on pre-arranged overtime work, unscheduled call-in overtime work days, or holidays, except as otherwise provided herein.
- 23.9 Association Sick Time Bank Any unit member may contribute accrued sick leave to a sick leave pool. The sick leave bank may be used by a unit member who has exhausted all other paid leave and whose need to use leave from the bank is deemed justifiable by the Association. A unit member must apply for time in writing to the Association representative. The application shall contain the time requested and the start date. The Association representatives will process the request and notify the unit member and the Police Chief of the status of the request. The use of the sick leave pool will be administered on a case by case basis. Absent extenuating circumstances, no member shall be approved to receive an amount of sick leave exceeding one full pay period in a calendar year.
- 23.10 A unit member who is injured on the job will continue to be paid in full and no time lost as a result of an on the job injury shall be charged against existing sick leave for the first seven (7) calendar days.
- 23.11 When a unit member agrees to work in for another unit member but calls in sick and does not report for work, the sick leave will be charged against the unit member who called in sick.
- 23.12 All light duty assignments are at the sole discretion of the Chief.
- 23.13 After exhausting any available FMLA leave, unit members shall have the option to use any available sick leave while they are receiving supplemental pay through worker's compensation. However, the total combined pay from sick leave and worker's compensation shall not exceed 100% of the unit member's regular salary.
- 23.14 Any unit member involuntarily separated from the City due to medical reasons shall receive payment for 50% of his sick leave balance.
- 23.15 Bereavement Leave In the event of a death in the immediate family of any unit member, the unit member shall be granted 3 working days (a working day is equivalent to the current schedule of the affected unit member) off with pay. Two (2) additional working days with pay shall be granted to a unit member who has to travel outside of the State of Florida to attend a funeral. The immediate family is defined as spouse and children of the member including step children and adopted children, mother, father, brother or sister, half-brother or sister, step-brother or sister, step-parent, grandchild and grandparents of the member and those of the member's spouse, mother and father-in-law, brother and sister-in-law, son and daughter-in-law and legal guardian.

#### **VACATION**

24.1 Accrual of vacation leave shall be limited to the following schedule for all unit members in the Bargaining Unit:

YEARS OF CONTINUOUS SERVICE	<u>TIME PER YEAR</u>	
1 - 5	104 hours	
6 - 9	120 hours	
10 - 14	144 hours	
15 <b>+</b>	200 hours	

For unit members hired on or after May 1, 2012, annual leave will accrue according to the following schedule:

YEARS OF CONTINUOUS SERVICE	TIME PER YEAR	
1 - 7	104 hours	
8 - 19	144 hours	
20+	200 hours	

- <u>24.2</u> Vacation shall be earned during the first year of employment. Unit members completing 1 year of service are entitled to use their accrued vacation. The rate of accrual shall change to the higher rate on the first day of the month in which the employment anniversary occurs. Any unused vacation leave in existence at the end of any employment year shall be carried forward to the credit of the unit member.
- 24.3 Vacation leave may be taken when requested by the unit member in writing and when approved by the appropriate supervisor in writing. The City shall schedule vacations, with due regard to the unit member's request, extenuating circumstances to be considered, consistent with the requirements of the City's operation.
- <u>24.4</u> Absence on account of sickness, injury, or disability in excess of that accumulated for such purposes may, at the request of the unit member and within the discretion of the City, be charged against that unit member's accrued annual leave allowance.
- 24.5 Upon termination, which includes retirement or resignation from the service of the City, the unit member shall take and/or may be paid lump sum payment for any unused accrued vacation leave up to 480 hours maximum accumulation. The City will also cash-out the unit member's accrued vacation hours between 480 and 520 hours, inclusive, unless the unit member has previously cashed-out 40 hours of vacation or compensatory time during the same calendar year pursuant to section 24.6 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

Any unit member presently on the payroll who currently has over 480 hours accumulated shall retain the actual amount accumulated, but will not be allowed to accumulate any additional hours beyond the amount on the books as of September 30, 1986.

24.6 One time per calendar year unit members may cash out up to 40 hours of vacation or compensatory time at the unit members' then current rate of pay.

# **LEAVE OF ABSENCE**

Leaves of absence without pay for a period not to exceed 90 days may be granted for a reasonable purpose to any unit member by the City. Such leaves may be renewed or extended. Any unit member who is a member of the National Guard or the Military Reserve Force of the United States, and who is ordered by the appropriate authorities to attend the prescribed training program or to perform other duties, shall be granted a leave of absence with pay as required by Florida Statutes, Chapter 115.07. Any unit member on a non-paid leave of absence in excess of 15 calendar days will be subject to City policy "Unpaid Leave of Absence" as provided in the City Personnel Policy Manual. Any unit member who is on a duly authorized non-paid leave of absence shall retain all accrued benefits, including seniority and longevity, but will not accrue any further benefits while on such leave unless otherwise provided for by State or federal laws.

# **ARTICLE 26**

# **INSURANCE**

- <u>26.1</u> In the event of a unit member's death, payment shall be made to the beneficiary named by the unit member in his City group life insurance policy for any and all accrued wages, overtime, vacation leave, and other terminal leave benefits to which such member would have been entitled to receive under the applicable provisions of law.
- 26.2 Members of the bargaining unit, covered retirees, and eligible dependents shall participate in the City's group health insurance plan on the same basis as general employees and retirees as may be authorized from time to time by the City Council including, but not limited to contribution rates, deductibles, and co-payments; provided the premium for individual Standard HMO coverage shall be paid by the City at 100% through September 30, 2020. For unit members hired between January 1, 2011 and May 1, 2012 who are utilizing dependent coverage prior to May 1, 2012, the City agrees to pay for dependent coverage in the same manner as unit members hired prior to January 1, 2011.
- <u>26.3</u> The City agrees to contribute 100% of the cost of an employee's base \$25,000 group life insurance policy for each member of the bargaining unit. (This will be in addition to, but exclusive of, existing State requirements relating to police personnel insurance coverage.)
- <u>26.4</u> The City agrees to make available to all membership of the bargaining unit a comprehensive group Dental Insurance Plan. The City will not pay any premiums for either employee or dependent coverage. This program shall be optional, and employees shall not be required to participate.
- 26.5 All unit members covered by this Agreement shall have the right to participate in the City's cafeteria (pre-tax) benefit plan. Participation in such a plan will not affect a unit member's final compensation under the Melbourne Municipal Police Officers' Pension Plan. In addition, unit members shall be eligible for any payroll deduction process pertaining to the cafeteria benefit plan that the City may make available.

<u>26.6</u> As long as unit members continue to participate in the City health insurance program, the Association has the right to appoint one voting representative to the Employee Benefits Advisory Committee.

# **ARTICLE 27**

# **WAGES**

- a. For FY 2018, effective the first paycheck in October 2017, all bargaining unit members shall receive a step increase. (Appendix F Salary Schedule)
- b. For FY 2019, effective the first paycheck in October 2018, the salary schedules shall be increased across the board by 4% then all bargaining unit members shall receive a step increase. (Appendix G Salary Schedule)
- c. For FY 2020, effective the first paycheck in October 2019, the salary schedules shall be increased across the board by .5% (half percent), then all bargaining unit members shall receive a step increase. (Appendix H Salary Schedule)
- 27.2 A unit member who has previously reached the nineteen (19) year milestone, is at the top of their respective pay grade, and therefore not eligible for a step increase, shall retain the longevity pay bonus of \$1200 computed into their hourly rate.

When a step increase is processed for bargaining unit members, eligible unit members not currently receiving a longevity bonus, but who have attained the nineteen (19) year milestone and are at the top of their respective pay grade, shall receive the \$1200 longevity bonus to be computed into their hourly rate.

- <u>27.3</u> During the term of this Agreement, unit members who are promoted to a higher rank will receive a salary increase to the minimum for their new pay grade. If the minimum pay step in the new pay grade results in less than a 5% pay increase for the unit members, he/she shall be placed in a pay step which equals a minimum 5% pay increase.
- 27.4 The City shall supply each Canine Officer with a dog that will be owned and maintained by the City in accordance with the form of agreement attached hereto and made a part hereof as Appendix "E". An agreement in such form will be entered into between the individual Canine Officer and the City at the time of assignment of dog to said officer.

Canine Officers will be granted one-half hour at the start and at the end of each shift to prepare feed, groom, and otherwise care for their assigned canine.

Canine Officers assigned to a 12-hour schedule will be compensated at the rate of time and one-half for 7 hours per pay period to provide daily care for the dog on their days off. There will be no compensation when dogs are kenneled.

<u>27.5</u> Unit members assigned to the following duties will receive the pay supplements noted. The supplements will be calculated at an hourly rate, and added to the unit member's base rate.

Evidence Technician \$50 per month Traffic Officer/Sgt. \$50 per month Detective/Sgt./Lt. \$50 per month FTO Sgt. \$50 per month

- 27.6 a. SWAT, Dive, and Crisis Negotiation Units (CNU) will be compensated at the rate of \$60.00 per month. Selection of officers for said positions will remain at the sole discretion of the Chief of Police.
- b. Field Training Officers (FTO) will be compensated at the rate of \$160.00 per month. Selection of officers for said positions will remain at the sole discretion of the Chief of Police.
- 27.7 Shift Differential pay will be paid to those officers with regular shift assignments at the following rate:

Officers assigned to shifts beginning at or after 12:00 noon shall receive an additional four percent (4%) compensation while assigned to that shift.

Differential pay will only apply to sworn personnel assigned to a permanent non-rotating schedule. Persons working special details or on a temporary basis will not be eligible for this supplement.

# **ARTICLE 28**

#### **PROMOTION**

28.1 The employer will promote unit members from an eligibility list established for the particular vacancy or vacancies of a position. Eligibility lists for promotional opportunities will be established when a promotion opportunity occurs. Upon notification of such a vacancy, the Chief of Police will establish a declared process date. The declared process date will be the initial announced vacancy date. Once the eligibility list is established, it will be used for subsequent promotions for one year from the date of posting. Position shall mean a vacancy or vacancies in the rank of Sergeant or Lieutenant. One (1) eligibility list for each rank shall suffice for all vacancies in that position. Listing of all promotional opportunities shall be posted on all bulletin boards not less than seven (7) calendar days prior to the deadline established for submittal of application. The parties agree that the promotional process will comply with Veterans Preference laws (Chapter 295 Florida Statutes and Chapter 55A-7 Florida Administrative Code) as amended from time to time.

# 28.2 ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS

- 1. The eligibility requirements for promotion to the rank of Sergeant are as follows:
  - (A) Completion of five (5) consecutive years of service with the Melbourne Police Department as a sworn officer any time before the declared process date. The Officer must not be on probation as of the declared process date.
  - (B) Submit to and pass a written examination with a minimum score of 75%. This examination is intended to test basic legal and supervisory knowledge and allows candidates that pass the written test to continue in the Sergeants assessment process. The written test shall be compiled from the following source material:
    - (1) Department General Orders
    - (2) The Florida Criminal Law and Motor Vehicle Handbook
    - (3) City of Melbourne Ordinances that apply to law enforcement

- (4) The current labor agreement
- (5) Questions from other source material as identified by the Chief of Police: articles, books, or other items of general police knowledge or supervisory skills
- (C) Based on passing the written examination as specified above, the candidate will participate in an assessment process. Participants shall be ranked by score. Each of the two (2) individual scenario-based exercises shall constitute one-half (1/2) each of the score of the assessment process.
- 2. The eligibility requirements for promotion to the rank of Lieutenant are as follows:
  - (A) Complete three (3) consecutive years of service as a Sergeant with the Melbourne Police Department immediately prior to the declared process.
  - (B) Participate in an assessment process. Each of the three (3) individual scenario-based exercises shall constitute one-third (1/3) each of the score of the assessment process.
- 28.3 There will be at least a 60-day notification prior to the promotional test. The City will make adequate quantities of testing materials available to eligible unit members for study purposes, at least 60 days prior to the posted testing date.
- 28.4 The City and the Association mutually agree that the testing process shall be administered and performed by a recognized law enforcement testing organization.
- 28.5 Seniority will be factored in at a value of up to 5 points, with both Sergeant and Lieutenant candidates' seniority based on time in grade within the rank they hold prior to the declared process date. It will be awarded on the following scale:

Serg	eant	I
Years in Grade	Points	Years in G
10+	5	10+
9	4	9
7	3	7
5	2	5
4	] 1	3
	<u> </u>	l L

Years in Grade	Points
10+	5
9	4
7	3
5	2

Seniority points will be added to the number of points achieved in the assessment process and will comprise the candidate's final score.

<u>28.6</u> Education will be factored in at a value of up to 5 points for both Sergeant and Lieutenant candidates who have attained the academic level from an accredited college or university recognized by the Council for Higher Education Accreditation (CHEA) prior to the declared process date. Education will be awarded on the following scale:

Sergeant		
Academie Level	Points	
MA/PH.D	5	
BA/BS	3	
60+/A.VAS	1	

Lieutenant	
Academic Level	Points
MA/PH.D	5
BA/BS	3
60+/AA/AS	į į

- 28.7 Candidates will be ranked by final score and placed on an eligibility list that will be valid for one-year from the date of posting. The final score will be comprised of the score of the Assessment Center, education points, and the applicable seniority points.
- <u>28.8</u> The Chief of Police shall conduct a personal interview with each candidate and consider the following elements:
  - 1. Questions that relate to the mission of the Department and what the candidate would bring to the promoted position to help the Department meet its mission
  - 2. A review of employment history
  - 3. Educational achievement of the candidate
- 28.9 The Chief of Police shall interview the top three (3) candidates on the eligibility list as defined in Section 28.7. After the interviews and at his discretion based on the "rule of three", the Chief shall select a candidate who will be recommended to the City Manager for promotion. The "rule of three" shall be defined as the top three candidates on the eligibility list as determined in Section 28.7. If a vacancy in the top three candidates is declared due to promotion, separation from employment, or for withdrawal by the candidate, the next highest scoring eligible candidate shall be moved up throughout the list. This language shall also apply to lateral transfer lists established within the department.
- 28.10 Candidates may review and challenge any question(s) on the written examination. The Department will review such challenges and make a final determination on the challenges. Successful challenges shall alter the results of the scoring for all affected unit members. Candidates may review the results of his examination. To review any aspect of the results of the promotion process, the unit member must submit a memorandum to the Chief of Police within then (10) calendar days from the date of the written examination and prior to the posting of the final scores. The Chief of Police shall arrange the time and place of the review and assign a monitor. Review of test materials shall be restricted in accordance with Chapter 119, Florida Statutes.
- 28.11 Security and retention of all promotional materials for the rank of Sergeant or Lieutenant will be maintained in accordance with Chapter 119, Florida Statutes.

# POLITICAL ACTIVITY

Unit members can engage in lawful political activity as defined by Florida Statute, 104.31.

# **ARTICLE 30**

#### VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT

- 30.1 Whenever a unit member is authorized in advance to use his own vehicle in the performance of his official duties, he will be compensated in accordance with City Ordinance at the prescribed current rate of reimbursement per mile, as well as reimbursement for tolls and parking charges.
- 30.2 The City will make every reasonable effort to maintain vehicles and other City provided equipment in a safe operating condition. The City will endeavor to inspect patrol vehicles on a regular basis. Members of the bargaining unit using such equipment are charged with a responsibility to the City to assist in this effort. Failure on the part of a bargaining unit member to act in a responsible manner with regard to safety shall be cause for discipline.
- 30.3 Effective the pay period ending May 11, 2012, unit members, except for Canine Officers, participating in the assigned vehicle program will reimburse the cost of fuel through payroll deduction based on the following rates:

Officers with residence in City limits

\$ 0 per month

Officers with residence up to and including 10.99 miles outside City limits

\$10 per month

Officers with residence more than 10.99 miles outside the City limits

\$15 per month

Driving distance will be determined by Mapquest using the shortest distance option from the unit member's primary residence to the closest City limits. Those unit members with a vehicle that is out of service for 72 hours or more would not be subject to the reimbursement for that pay period if another City vehicle is not provided upon submission of a take home car deduction suspension memo from the Police Chief.

# ARTICLE 31

#### SEVERABILITY CLAUSE

- 31.1 Should any provision of this collective bargaining agreement, or any part thereof, be rendered or declared invalid by reason of any existing or subsequently enacted state or federal legislation, or by any decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, all other articles and sections of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of the Agreement.
- 31.2 Should any Article be rendered invalid, it shall be renegotiated within 30 days.

<sup>\*</sup> Per existing policy, vehicles may not be taken outside of Brevard County.

#### PREVAILING RIGHTS

All benefits enjoyed by unit members at the present time which are in writing and known to both parties, and which do not infringe upon Management Rights as stated in Article 4 of this Agreement, shall be presumed to be reasonable and proper, and shall not be changed arbitrarily or capriciously.

# **ARTICLE 33**

#### **PENSION**

Retirement benefits and employee contributions for employees covered by this Agreement shall be as provided in the City of Melbourne Municipal Police Officers' Retirement Plan ("the Plan"), except as provided below. All changes to the existing Plan shall take effect on the date the changes are implemented ("effective date"), except as otherwise specified below.

- 1. For Plan members who are employed and have not reached the normal retirement date as of the effective date, November 27, 2012, the COLA will be proportional based on a member's years and months of credited service as of November 27, 2012 (similar to FRS; example: if an employee has 20 years of credited service as of the effective date and retires upon reaching 25 years of credited service, then the COLA would be 20/25 of 1.0% or .8%) The COLA for members who are employed and have not reached the normal retirement date as of November 27, 2012 will apply one year after normal retirement and continue for ten years after retirement, discontinuing after that time. Members hired after November 27, 2012 will have no COLA benefit.
- 2. Salary for pension purposes on and after November 27, 2012 shall exclude payments for accrued sick and annual leave; provided, for employees employed on November 27, 2012, salary will include the lesser of the amount of sick or annual leave time accrued as of November 27, 2012 or the actual amount of sick or annual leave time for which the retiree receives payment at the time of retirement, regardless of whether the amount of sick or annual leave was, at some time prior to retirement, reduced below the amount as of November 27, 2012.
- 3. Effective October 1, 2008, "Salary" for pension purposes shall exclude overtime in excess of 300 hours per year. Effective May 2, 2011, "Salary" for pension purposes shall exclude extra duty or special detail work performed on behalf of a second party employer. For members who are employed on November 27, 2012, "Salary" for pension purposes after November 27, 2012 shall exclude payments for overtime in excess of 200 hours per fiscal year. This annual overtime cap shall be increased to a total of 300 hours in any fiscal year for overtime hours worked during any declared emergency. For members hired after November 27, 2012, salary for pension purposes shall exclude payments for overtime in excess of 150 hours per fiscal year. This annual overtime cap for members hired after November 27, 2012 will not be increased for overtime worked during any declared emergency. Neither the City nor the employee shall make pension contributions on overtime hours excluded from the definition of "Salary" for pension purposes.

- 4. The maximum pension benefit (including COLA) for members who are employed and have not reached the normal retirement date as of November 27, 2012, and members hired on or after that date, shall be \$90,000 annually.
- 5. Effective September 1, 2013, the member pension contribution rate for members who are employed on November 27, 2012 will be increased from 5.0% to 6.5%. Members hired after November 27, 2012 will have a member pension contribution rate of 8.0%.
- 6. The DROP interest rate, at the election of the employee, shall be the plan investment rate or 1.3% per annum for members who enter the DROP on or after November 27, 2012.
- 7. The benefit changes in sections 1 and 4 above shall not apply to any Plan member who is employed and has reached age 55 with 10 or more years of credited service or 25 years of credited service regardless of age as of November 27, 2012. Such members who are employed and not participating in the DROP shall continue to accrue benefits in accordance with the Plan provisions in effect prior to November 27, 2012.
- 8. On May 2, 2012, the City and the Association requested the Police Officers' Retirement Trust Fund Board increase the assumed rate of return for Plan investments to 7.75%. The Board agreed to change the rate of return from 7.0% to 7.5%. The assumed investment rate of return is not subject to the grievance procedure.

The City acknowledges that it will comply with Chapter 2015-39, Laws of Florida, concerning the use of Ch. 185 premium tax revenues received after October 1, 2017. Accordingly, the City will implement a share plan for police officers. In accordance with state law, the current accumulated excess premium tax revenues (\$127,723 as of 10/1/17) shall be split 50/50, with 50% allocated to the share plan, and 50% used to pay down the unfunded liabilities of the plan. In the future, if premium tax revenues received in any plan year exceed the amount collected in 2012 (520,281), 50% of the excess will be allocated to the share plan and 50% will be used to reduce the City's annual required pension contribution. All annual premium tax revenues received up to the 2012 amount shall be used to reduce the City's annual required pension contribution. The City agrees to negotiate the details of the share plan with the Union before it is implemented. The City agrees that member share accounts will be credited within 60 days of receipt of premium tax distributions.

#### **ARTICLE 34**

## **DRUG TESTING**

The City and the Union mutually agree that the use by unit members of unlawful drugs, alcohol, and other illegal controlled substances constitutes a danger to the unit member, fellow employees, and the general public. It is further agreed that the safety of public property and equipment is placed at jeopardy if a unit member is under the influence of drugs or alcohol.

To allay public concerns regarding the use of drugs, alcohol or other illegal or controlled substances by Public Safety employees, and to mitigate the danger to other employees in the workplace, the City and the Union mutually agree to adhere to the City's Drug-Free Workplace Policy which is in compliance with Section 440.102, Florida Statutes. In addition, an annual physical examination will be given to all members of the bargaining unit which will include a drug test. Failure to submit to such testing or provide a sample within a reasonable time period (three hours from the first failure to test) is considered

a positive test. Employees who refuse to comply with the provisions of this Article may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal, subject to the grievance procedures of this contract.

### **ARTICLE 35**

### **HEALTH AND WELFARE**

When a unit member in performing his job duties is exposed to a scrious contagious disease, as determined by the Center of Disease Control (CDC), the Employer shall pay the reasonable medical expenses for an inoculation or immunization, as medically necessary, for the unit member and for members of the employee's family living in the same household.

### **ARTICLE 36**

## EXTRA DUTY EMPLOYMENT

- 36.1 This article governs requested duties to a secondary employer, described as a person, business or license entity that contracts with the City of Melbourne for a bargaining unit member to perform services that is similar in scope to routine police functions and that normally will require the member to use his department uniform, and may or may not require the use of his department vehicle, equipment and resources.
- <u>36.2</u> Upon submission and approval of an Extra-Duty Work Request, a bargaining unit member shall be scheduled to work the extra duty assignment.
- 36.3 Minimum Rates the minimum rate established for work performed under this Article shall be thirty-five dollars (\$35) per officer, per hour, and forty dollars (\$40) for supervisors, per hour. Work performed on recognized holidays shall be forty-five dollars (\$45) per hour for officers and fifty dollars (\$50) per hour for supervisors. There shall be a minimum of three (3) hours for any assignment. Any rate changes shall be subject to negotiations between the parties.
- 36.4 The City will administer payment to the bargaining unit members for extra duty service through its payroll system and withhold appropriate taxes. It is understood that payments received for extra duty services shall not be considered part of "Salary" for purposes of computation of overtime or for pension benefits.
- <u>36.5</u> Unit members shall be provided workers' compensation insurance coverage through the City for all extra duty services. This shall not preclude the City from seeking reimbursement for workers' compensation coverage from the secondary employer.
- 36.6 A unit member who is injured while working for a secondary employer and actually carrying out law enforcement functions will be acting within the scope of his employment with the City and shall not be disqualified from receiving in-line of duty disability benefits under the police officers' retirement plan based on the secondary employment. Compensation for the time spent carrying out law enforcement functions while working for a secondary employer will continue to be governed by paragraph 36.4 above and shall not be considered part of "Salary" for purposes of computation of overtime or for pension benefits.

- 36.7 There will be discussion at labor management committee meetings regarding the number of officers to be assigned to such extra duty and appropriate screening of the extra duty assignment.
- 36.8 Unit members remain subject to the rules and regulations governing employees of the Melbourne Police Department. The unit member shall refuse to perform any duties deemed to be in conflict with the guidelines established by the Melbourne Police Department.

## **ARTICLE 37**

## **DURATION OF AGREEMENT**

This Agreement shall be effective October 1, 2017, and shall remain in full force and effect through September 30, 2020. Either party to the Agreement may give notice in writing within ninety (90) days prior to the expiration date to the other party of their desire to terminate, amend, or continue this Agreement.

CITY OF MELBOURNE:

COASTAL FLORIDA POLICE
BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION:

SHANNON LEWIS
Interim City Manager

Date

CATHY WYSOR

City Clerk

Date

Date

Date



1166 Pelican Bay Drive + Daytona Beach, FL 32119 (386) 304-2393 + 1-800-625-5451

## Payroll Deduction Authorization

Complete and sign if you want	t your dues forwarded to the C	FPBA via payroll deduction.
To: Payroll Department – <u>M</u>	elbourne Police Department Agency	
I,(Name)	, hereby authorize the	MPD (Agency)
to withhold \$ <u>43.16</u> , per modues, from my paycheck, effec	•	olice Benevolent Association
Said dues are to be forwarded	to the Coastal Florida Police E	Benevolent Association.
Dues are to be forwarded to the Coastal F 32119.	Florida Police Benevolent Association 110	66 Pelican Bay Drive, Daytona Beach, FL
Name printed:	(last six SSN#)	_
Signature:	Date	
	APPENDIX A	

Protecting The Protectors



1166 Pelican Bay Drive + Daytona Beach, FL 32119 (386) 304-2393 + 1-800-625-5451

GRIEVANCE FORM	<del></del>
lame of Employee	***
lassification	<u></u>
nunediate Supervisor	
ate	
STATEMENT OF GRIEVANCE:	
ist Applicable Violation	
	Mark 7 S for 1 B - Monte of No.
djustment Required:	
ateSignature of CFPBA Representative	
ate Presented to Management Representative	
TEP #: Date	
Representative for City Signature	
AgreeDisagree	
Comments:	

**Protecting The Protectors** 



1166 Pelican Bay Drive + Daytona Beach, FL 32119 (386) 304-2393 + 1-800-625-5451

## **CFPBA TIME POOL DONATION**

EMPLOYEE NAME	
<u>DEPARTMENT</u>	
EMPLOYEE I.D. NUMBER	
I hereby request and authorize the City of Melbourne to deduct leave and transmit these hours to the CFPBA Union Time Pool Bank,	_ hours from my accrual
<u>DATE</u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
EMPLOYEE SIGNATURE	166.6
CFPBA REPRESENTATIVE SIGNATURE	
APPENDIX C-1	
Protecting The Protectors	



1166 Pelican Bay Drive + Daytona Beach, FL 32119 (386) 304-2393 + 1-800-625-5451

## **CFPBA TIME POOL USAGE**

DATE(S) & HOURS REQUESTED FOR TIME POOL USAGE
•
•
This request is made for utilization of the CFPBA Union Time Pool. Usage of hours in this pool is for business deemed appropriate by the CFPBA.
EMPLOYEE SIGNATURE
DATE THIS REQUEST IS BEING MADE
CFPBA REPRESENTATIVE SIGNATURE
DATE THIS REQUEST IS APPROVED
APPENDIX C-2

**Protecting The Protectors** 

## Melbourne Police Department Patrol and Traffic Schedule

Shift	Hours
Day Watch Alpha/Bravo	
Lieutenant	0600 to 1800
Sergeant	0530 to 1730
Sergeant	0600 to 1800
Sergeant	0700 to 1900
Officers shall work from two	
shifts, one starting	
at 0600 hours and the other	
starting at 0700 hours	
Night Watch Alpha/Bravo	
Lieutenant	1800 to 0600
Sergeant	1730 to 0530
Sergeant	1800 to 0600
Sergeant	1900 to 0700
Officers shall work from two	
shifts, one starting	
at 1800 hours and the other	
starting at 1900 hours	

\*Shift Bid and Seniority determine the shift assignment

Shift	Days	Hours
Selective Traffic Enforcement		
Traffic Platoon 1		
Traffic Officer	Mon to Thu	0630 to 1630
Traffic Officer	Mon to Thu	0630 to 1630
Traffic Officer	Mon to Thu	1000 to 2000
Traffic Officer	Mon to Thu	1000 to 2000
Traffic Platoon 2		
Traffic Officer	Tue to Fri	0630 to 1630
Traffic Officer	Tue to Fri	0630 to 1630
Traffic Officer	Tue to Fri	1000 to 2000
Traffic Officer	Tue to Fri	1000 to 2000

## Melbourne Police Department Criminal Investigations Division Schedule

Assignment	Days	Hours
Lieutenant	Mon to Frid	0900-1700
Sergeant	Mon to Thu	0700 to 1700
Sergeant	Tues to Fri	0700 to 1700
Day Shift Detectives will		
work from 0700 hour to		
1700 hours. They will either		
work Monday to Thursday		
or Tuesday to Friday		
depending on shift bid and		
assigment.		
Night Shift Detective	Mon to Thu	1400 to 0000
Night Shift Detective	Tues to Fri	1400 to 0000
Special Investigations Unit		
Lieutenant	Tues to Fri	1200 - 2200
Sergeant	Tues to Fri	1200 - 2200
Detective	Tues to Fri	1200 - 2200
Detective	Tues to Fri	1200 - 2200
Detective	Tues to Fri	1200 - 2200
Detective	Tues to Fri	1200 - 2200
Detective	Tues to Fri	1200 - 2200
Detective	Tues to Fri	1200 - 2200

## Melbourne Police Department **CRT and Administrative Schedule**

Assignment	Days	Hours	
School Resource Officers	Mon to Fri	Various	
Training Sergeant	Mon to Fri	0800 - 1600	
Recruiter	Mon to Fri	0800 - 1600	
IA Lieutenant	Mon to Fri	0800 - 1600	
IA Sergeant	Mon to Fri	0800 - 1600	
Community Response Team			
Platoon 1	Tues to Thur	1200 - 2200	Friday 1700-0300
Sergeant	same for entire pl	atoon	
Officer			
NOTES			_

<sup>\*</sup>CRT is tentatively on a schedule for a trial basis and may change

<sup>\*</sup>SRO work the hours that their respective schools are open \*CRT will work 1700 to 0300 on Friday

#### K-9 SERVICES AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into this day of between the MELBOURNE POLICE DEPARTMENT, and, a full-time Police Officer, City of Melbourne, Brevard County, Florida, for the purpose of defining the responsibilities of both parties regarding K-9 services.
WITNESSETH;
WHEREAS, the City of Melbourne maintains a Police K-9 Unit as an effective means of accomplishing certain police duties, and
WHEREAS, a Police K-9 is a highly trained and valuable asset of the Police Department, and
WHEREAS, the relationship between the Police K-9 Officer and the Police K-9 is a strong, close, nurturing and emotional relationship which is essential for the effectiveness of the K-9, and
WHEREAS, it is the intention of the City to assign a City owned K-9 known as, to the above named K-9 Officer on the following terms and conditions.
NOW THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:

## I K-9 OFFICER'S RESPONSIBILITIES

The K-9 Officer agrees to provide for the following:

- 1. The Officer agrees to provide 24 hours, 7 days per week, care and maintenance of the K-9. An integral part of care for the K-9 is the affection and stewardship of the animal as a pet. At all times the K-9 is to be properly supervised by the Officer.
- 2. Be responsible for general maintenance and medical care necessary for normal K-9 upkeep.
- 3. Have performed at the City garage all Police K-9 vehicle maintenance and repair during off-duty hours.
- 4. Assure that the K-9 performs effectively in a functional and capable manner in conformance with the K-9 manual and all applicable Department rules, regulations and procedures.

#### II RESPONSBILITIES OF CITY

The City agrees to provide the following to the K-9 Officer:

1. A trained Police K-9 for use by the K-9 Officer in the performance of assigned duties. City agrees to assign the K-9 to the Officer on a 24 hours, 7 days per week basis.

#### Appendix E

- 2. Provide to the Officer, at its expense, the following items for the K-9:
  - (a.) Canned and dry dog food
  - (b.) Daily vitamins
  - (c.) Licensing
  - (d.) All routine and emergency medical care
  - (e.) Kenneling facilities when the K-9 Officer is out of town or unable to care for the dog for any reason.
- 3. Police K-9 vehicle for use while K-9 on duty, and at the Department's discretion, to transport K-9 between Officer's residence for official duty and authorized training.
- 4. Liability insurance coverage for the K-9 to the limits provided in the City's current Comprehensive General Liability program.

## III. RETIREMENT/TERMINATION OF K-9 FROM SERVICE

- 1. Upon the retirement of the Police K-9, whether for medical, age or physical performance reasons, both parties agree that the K-9 officer may purchase the K-9 for a price to be negotiated with the City.
- 2. Upon the transfer, promotion or retirement of the K-9 Officer from the K-9 Unit, the Officer may secure ownership of the Police K-9 from the City based on the original purchase price of the K-9 by the City, utilizing the following scale:
  - (a.) during the first (1st) year, at Eighty Percent (80%) of the purchase price;
  - (b.) during the second (2<sup>nd</sup>) year, at a Sixty Percent (60%) of the purchase price;
  - (c.) during the third (3<sup>rd</sup>) year, at Forty Percent (40%) of the purchase price;
  - (d.) during the fourth (4<sup>th</sup>) year, at Twenty Percent (20%) of the purchase price;
  - (e.) during the fifth (5th) year, at Ten Percent (10%) of the purchase price;
  - (f.) during the sixth (6<sup>th</sup>) year, or subsequent years, or upon the retirement of the K-9 in conformance with Article III, Section 1 of this Contract, at the purchase price to be negotiated with the City.

	For pu	rposes of th		oh, the pur , sha	-			n as
	•	Upon termina offer the K-9 cases where th	for purchase	by the Off	ficer. This	paragraph s	shall not app	oly in
Officer (Name)			Dav	rid Gillespie	e, Chief of P	Police		
STATE OF FLOI COUNTY OF BR								
This foregoing in by who did take an o		s acknowledg and	ed before me l Chief Davi	e this d Gillespie,	_ day of , who are p	ersonally k	, 2 nown to me	:0 e and
(Notary Public –	Signature)							
(Notary Public – I	Printed)							
(STAMP)								



## Salary Schedules by Date

Report Run Date: 9/17/2015

## Effective Date 9/12/2015

Grade	Step	HR salary	Per Salary	Annual Salary
<b>P</b> 97				
	0	\$30.3742	\$2,429.94	\$63,178.44
	1	\$31,1086	\$2,488.69	\$64,705.94
	2	\$31.8630	\$2,549.04	\$66,275.04
	3	\$32.6366	\$2,610.93	\$67,884.18
	4	\$33.4292	\$2,674.34	\$69,532.84
	5	\$34.2423	\$2,739.38	\$71,223.88
	6	\$35.0759	\$2,806.07	\$72,957.82
	7	\$35.9301	\$2,874.41	\$74,734.66
	8	\$36.8049	\$2,944.39	\$76,554.14
	9	\$37.7020	\$3,016.16	\$78,420.16
	10	\$38.6213	\$3,089.70	\$80,332.20
	11	\$39.5639	\$3,165.11	\$82,292.86



Grade P99

## Salary Schedules by Date

Report Run Date: 9/17/2015

#### Effective Date 9/12/2015

Step	HR salary	Per Salary	Annual Salary
0	\$18.8607	\$1,508.86	\$39,230.36
1	\$19.1992	\$1,535.94	\$39,934.44
2	\$19.6577	\$1,572.62	\$40,888.12
3	\$20.1251	\$1,610.01	\$41,860.26
4	\$20.6057	\$1,648.46	\$42,859.96
5	\$21.0980	\$1,687.84	\$43,883.84
6	\$21.6018	\$1,728.14	\$44,931.64
7	\$22.1190	\$1,769.52	\$46,007.52
8	\$22.6494	\$1,811.95	\$47,110.70
9	\$23.1931	\$1,855.45	\$48,241.70
10	\$23.7495	<b>\$</b> 1,899. <b>9</b> 6	\$49,398.96
11	\$24.3195	\$1,945.56	\$50,584.56
12	\$24.9053	\$1,992.42	\$51,802.92
13	\$25.5048	\$2,040.38	\$53,049.88
14	\$26.1192	\$2,089.54	\$54,328.04
15	\$26.7490	\$2,139.92	\$55,637.92
16	\$27.3945	\$2,191.56	\$56,980.56
17	\$28 0564	\$2,244.51	<b>\$58</b> ,357.26
18	\$28.7344	\$2,298.75	\$59,767.50

11		
14/		
છે		
8	la de la	
9	W. A	
14		
	1.0	
_		
3		
Z		
ÿ		
2		
S		
z		
2		
φ		
201		
00	18 7 8 1953	
	VIII.	
Þ		
	<b>3</b> 7.	
Н		

11000000000000000000000000000000000000	STEP/LEVEL	10/01/2016 PBA POLICE UNI Change was made by 4 No Dollar amount used.	000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000 00	SIEP/LEVEL	10/01/2018 PBA POLICE UNI Change was made by 4 No Dollar amount used.	EFF. DATE GROUP/BU	11/14/2018 09:14 jennifer.chase
99000000000000000000000000000000000000	PERCENT	I P98 4.0000%	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	PERCENT	1 297 4,0000%	GRADE/ RANK I	<del></del>
26.5216 27.1576 27.8108 28.4810 29.4784 29.8768 30.6025 31.3414 31.3414 32.1006 33.6770 33.6770 34.4948	HOURLY RATE	POLICZ SERGEANT	321.589 322.352 33.942 36.4766 38.277 41.2166 210 41.146	HOURLY RATI	POLICE LT	DESCRIPTION	TRAIN DATABASE    SALARY TABLES
265.21.5763 88 2771.5763 84 2891.7163 86 2991.7163 87 298.7675 88 313.4138 86 313.4138 86 3321.0063 87 396.7700	E DAILY RATE	H HOURLY B I	315.8925 323.5288 533.3250 1 339.4213 44 347.6638 0 364.1280 0 364.7820 1 392.1713 1 392.1013 1 392.1013 1 401.6625 411.4650	E DAILY RATE	H HOURLY B 1	PAY BASIS FRI	Nov 9 2018
2,172 2,172 2,2724 2,333 2,333 2,448 2,568 2,6630 2,6630 2,6630	PERIOD SALA	BIWEEKLY 02	2,5527 2,5527 2,588 2,715 2,715 2,918 3,062 3,213 3,213	PERIOD SALA	BIWEEKLY 02	FREQUENCY CALC	
73 51 51 55 55 57 86 57 86 57 86 60 67 67 67 67 67 71 71 71 71 71 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74	RY ANNUAL SALAR	26.0000 10.00	23 23 65,793 67,293 29 31 70,599 31 71,723 31 71,723 31 72,816 31 73,817 74,876 75,876 76,876 77,723 81,557 81,557 81,554 85,584 85,584	RY ANNUAL SALAR	26.0000 10.00	HRS/ HR PERIODS DAY PE	
a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a	1RY	80.00 8.00 2080.		ARY	80.00 8.00 2080.00	HRS/ DAYS/ HRS/ PERIOD PERIOD YEAR	
		0.00 208.00 N			0.00 208.00 N	/ DAYS/ USE R YEAR PCT	pmgrstep
					•		<b>Å</b> ⊢

00 0.0000 19.6151 196.1513 1.569.21 40,799.46 0.0000 20.4440 20.4440 21.531.88 41.531.88 0.0000 21.9301 20.9301 1.6725 1.674.41 43.531.88 0.0000 21.9419 21.9488 1.794.27 43.534.66 0.0000 22.4659 224.658 1.797.27 45.39.10 0.0000 23.5584 235.5582 0.0000 24.1208 235.5588 1.797.27 46.729.02 0.0000 24.1208 2.35.558 1.844.43 48.995.11 0.0000 25.2923 25.2	STEP/LEVEL PERCENT HOURLY RATE DAILY RATE PERIOD SALARY ANNUAL SALARY	10/01/2018 PBA POLICE UNI P99 POLICE OFFICER H HOURLY B BIWEEKLY 62 26.0006 10.00 80.00 8.00 2080.00 20 Change was made by 4.00008 No Dollar amount used.	GRADE/ EFF. DATE GROUP/BU RANK DESCRIPTION PAY BASIS FREQUENCY CALC PERIODS DAY PERIOD PERIOD YEAR YE	11/14/2018 09:14   TRAIN DATABASE NOV 9 2018 Jennifer.chase   SALARY TABLES	
			_	ਮੋਟੀ  ਰ	
		z	PCT	P 2  pmgrstep	

*
END
nj O
REPORT
ı
Generated
Λq
Jennifer
Chase
* *

ASE Nov 9 2018 ES	LO4	YEAR	-	2080.00	8.00 T	രി		10.00	26.0000	02	B BIWEEKLY	H HOURLY	POLICE LT	- 21-2
	1 ngrstep USE	) <u>F</u>	1 <b>2</b>	HRS/	YS/		HRS/	识s/	!			Nov 9 2018	RAIN DATABASE ALARY TABLES	

10/01/20 Char No I	
POLICE made by mount us	STEP/LEVEL  20 21 22 23 24 05 06 07 08 09 10
I P98 0.5000%	PERCENT 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000
SERGEANT H	31.747 31.747 32.5147 32.5147 33.3032 34.1118 34.9402 35.7901 36.6613 37.5541 38.4685 40.3670 41.3522
LY RATE	DAILY RATE 317.4713 325.1475 333.0325 341.1175 349.4025 356.6125 366.6125 375.5413 384.6850 403.6700 413.5225
02 2	PERIOD SALARY  2,539.77 2,601.18 2,664.26 2,728.94 2,795.22 2,863.201 2,932.20 3,004.33 3,077.48 3,152.50 3,229.36 3,308.18
0000 10.00 80.00	ANNUAL SALARY 66,034.02 67,630.68 69,270.76 70,952.44 72,675.72 74,443.46 78,112.58 80,014.48 81,965.00 83,963.36 86,012.68
8.00 2080.00 208.00	
	1/2019 PBA POLICE UNI P98 POLICE SERGEANT H HOURLY B BIWEEKLY 02 26.0000 10.00 80.00 8.00 2080.00 208. Change was made by 0.5000% No Dollar amount used.

z

TRAIN DATABASE Nov 9 2018	10/01/2019 PBA POLICE UNI P99 Change was made by 0.5000% No Dollar amount used.	EFF. DATE GROUP/BU RANK	11/14/2018 09:21 jennifer.chase	
8 FREQUENCY CALC PERIODS DAY PERIOD PERIOD YEAR YEAR B BIWEEKLY 02 26.0000 10.00 80.00 80.00 2080.00 208.00	POLICE OFFICER		TRAIN DATABASE  SALARY TABLES	
CALC PERIODS DAY PERIOD PERIOD YEAR YEAR  02 26.0000 10.00 80.00 8.00 2080.00 208.00	H HOURLY	PAY BASIS	Nov 9 2018	
PERIODS DAY   HRS/ PERIOD   PERIOD   YEAR   YEAR   YEAR   26.0000   10.00   80.00   8.00   2080.00   208.00	B BIWEEKLY	FREQUENCY		
HRS/ HRS/ DAYS/ HRS/ DAYS/ PERIOD PERIOD YEAR YEAR  10.00 80.00 8.00 2080.00 208.00	02	CALC		
HRS/ PERIOD PERIOD YEAR YEAR 80.00 8.00 2080.00 208.00	26.0000 10.00			
DAYS/ HRS/ DAYS/ PERIOD YEAR YEAR 8.00 2080.00 208.00		HRS/ PERIOD		
į į		DAYS/ PERIOD		
į į	2080.00	HRS/ YEAR		
use PCT N	208.00	DAYS/ YEAR	다. 라.	
	z	PCT	2 Igrstep	<u>.</u>

STEP/LEVEL

PERCENT

HOURLY RATE

DAILY RATE

PERIOD SALARY

ANNUAL SALARY

0.0000
19.7132 20.0670 20.5462 21.0348 21.5370
197.1325 200.6700 205.4625 210.3475 215.3700
1,577.06 1,605.36 1,643.70 1,682.78 1,722.96
41,739.36 41,739.36 42,736.20 43,752.28

<sup>\*\*</sup> END OF REPORT - Generated by Jennifer Chase \*\*